IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

•

•

6

CASE NO. 92,223

MICHAEL GEORGE BRUNO, SR.,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TODD G. SCHER Litigation Director Florida Bar No. 0899641

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-SOUTH 1444 Biscayne Boulevard, Suite 202 Miami, Florida 33132-1422 (305)377-7580

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Bruno was indicted on September 11, 1986, on one count of first degree murder and one count of armed robbery with a firearm (R. 960). The guilt phase was held August 5, 1987 through August 11, 1987 (R. 125-783). After a two day deliberation, the jury returned a guilty verdict on both counts (R. 777-780). After a sentencing hearing, R. 783-917, the jury recommended death by an 8-4 vote (R. 913), and the trial judge imposed death (R. 931-955, 1102-1103). This Court affirmed Mr. Bruno's conviction for first-degree murder and his sentence of death, but vacated the robbery sentence. <u>Bruno v. State</u>, 574 So. 2d 76 (Fla. 1991), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 112 S. Ct. 112 (1991).<sup>1</sup>

Mr. Bruno filed a Rule 3.850 motion raising, *inter alia*, substantial instances of ineffective assistance of counsel. The motion was accompanied by an appendix (PC-R. 4-68; Supp. PC-R. 1-66). The state filed a response on November 10, 1994 (Supp. PC-R. 67-165). On May 8, 1995, a reply was filed (Supp. PC-R. 166-197).

Mr. Bruno sought leave to depose trial counsel, Craig Stella, which the State opposed. The court eventually permitted the deposition noting that it was "concerned about" the allegations of Stella's drug use at the time of his representation of Mr. Bruno (T. 9).

Stella, represented by counsel, was deposed on September 21, 1995 (Supp. PC-R. 198 et. seq). He repeatedly invoked various privileges

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The robbery sentence on remand was appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, which ordered resentencing. <u>Bruno v.</u> <u>State</u>, 596 So. 2d 1205 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992).

and refused to answer any questions about his drug and alcohol use during the time he was representing Mr. Bruno unless the State immunized him or immunity was obtained from the Supreme Court (<u>Id</u>. at 221; 227; 228; 229; 233; 234; 235; 236; 248; 249; 261). At a hearing on a motion to compel Stella to answer the questions, the lower court gave the State a week to determine whether it would extend immunity to Stella (T. 62-63). The State eventually entered into an immunity agreement with Stella granting him limited use immunity (Supp. PC-R. 434-35), and Stella was re-deposed in order to answer the questions he had previously refused to answer (Supp. PC-R. 398-448).

A hearing was held on February 4, 1997, at which time the lower court outlined the parameters of the upcoming evidentiary hearing he had decided to allow (T. 77-90). Over the State's objection, the court granted an evidentiary hearing on all the claims in the 3.850 motion because he "would rather have the evidentiary hearing first then deal with those matters before I prepare an order whether or not the defendant is actually entitled to it. This way any reviewing court will know what would have come out at an evidentiary hearing" (T. 80-81).

The evidentiary hearing took place in two parts: from March 10-13, 1 997 and on August 11, 1997 (T. 103-944). Mr. Bruno submitted a post-hearing memorandum on October 10, 1997 (PC-R. 75-113). The State submitted a response on November 18, 1997 (PC-R. 114-173). The trial court entered an order on December 9, 1997, denying relief (PC-R. 174-203). A notice of appeal was timely filed (PC-R. 204-210).

Mr. Bruno was denied an adversarial testing at all phases 1. of his capital trial. During significant portions of the pretrial preparation period, trial counsel was abusing alcohol and cocaine to such an extent that he was hospitalized two weeks before Mr. Bruno's case was set for trial. Trial counsel, despite being armed with substantial impeachment evidence regarding numerous state witnesses, failed to use it. Trial counsel's proffered strategies were neither credible nor reasonable, nor did they comport with the facts of the case and the record. The adversarial process completely broke down at the penalty phase. Trial counsel testified that his investigator was responsible for investigating mitigation, yet the investigator testified he did no penalty phase investigation and did not even attend the penalty phase. Trial counsel did not even know that the mental health expert was going to testify that Mr. Bruno was insane at the time of the crime, and he when he did learn of it, counsel divulged privileged information to the court and the State which in essence devastated any reliance on the mental health evidence. Trial counsel also failed to object to numerous jury instructions and improper commentary and argument. Singularly and cumulatively, the errors alleged undermine confidence in the jury's guilt verdict its 8-4 death recommendation.

2. Mr. Bruno was denied his right to a competent court appointed mental health expert due to ineffectiveness of trial counsel.

3. An empirical scientific study, unavailable at the time of Mr. Bruno's capital trial, establishes that the penalty phase jury instructions in this case were unconstitutionally vague.

4. The cumulative effect of the errors in Mr. Bruno's case, coupled with the errors found on direct appeal by this Court but found to be harmless, establish that Mr. Bruno is entitled to a new trial and/or a resentencing.

## ARGUMENT I -- NO ADVERSARIAL TESTING OCCURRED AT MR. BRUNO'S CAPITAL TRIAL, IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHT, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

In his Rule 3.850 motion, Mr. Bruno alleged that trial counsel, Craig Stella, provided prejudicially deficient performance due to a combination of his own personal problems at the time, which included cocaine and alcohol abuse resulting in his commitment to a rehabilitation center during his representation of Mr. Bruno, and a failure to adequately prepare and investigate at both the guilt and penalty phases. Given the nature of this case, given the over 26 hour guilt-phase deliberation by the jury, and the narrow 8-4 death recommendation, counsel's deficiencies singularly and cumulatively prejudiced Mr. Bruno and require that a new trial and/or a resentencing be granted. The lower court's order is rife with conclusions that are contrary to well-settled precedent on what claims are cognizable in Rule 3.850 motions, reflecting the court's lack of understanding of the proceedings and misapplication of the facts to the correct law.

A. Trial Counsel's Testimony.<sup>2</sup> Stella became a member of the Florida Bar in 1978 (T. 127), following which time he worked in the State Attorney's Office for about 18 months where he handled juvenile cases (T. 128-29). He then worked with various criminal defense practitioners before opening his own private

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In addition to trial counsel, Craig Stella, Mr. Bruno presented Dr. Henry Dee, a neuropsychologist (T. 479-597); Dr. Jonathan Lipman, a neuropharmacologist (T. 792-873); Professor Michael Radelet (T. 354-425); Arthur Mahue (T. 760-92); and Elizabeth Bruno (T. 883-903). The State presented no mental health testimony and called only investigator Sidney Patrick (T. 904-35). Mr. Bruno will detail the full testimony of trial counsel in this section of the brief, and refer to the testimony of the other witnesses in the relevant sections of the brief.

practice which he maintained at the time of Mr. Bruno's trial (T. 130-31). Stella had an associate, Russell Adler, who "started out as a law student" and "then evolved into a full-time associate over the years" (T. 131); his role in Mr. Bruno's case was "ministerial" (T. 147). At the time of Mr. Bruno's trial in 1987, Stella had conducted "about three" first degree murder cases, but after the Bruno case, only had done one or two (T. 133).<sup>3</sup>

Investigator Sidney Patrick was appointed as "[t]hese cases take on a life of their own and I think it's always good to have an investigator and he can be used as little or as much as is necessary in any given case" (T. 148). Patrick was used to interview witnesses, run down bits of evidence, and check out alibis (T. 149).<sup>4</sup> Stella did not seek to have co-counsel appointed because he "had not heard of it being done all that frequently" but acknowledged that it is "probably a good idea to have one lawyer prepare the penalty phase and one lawyer prepare the guilt phase" because "[t]wo heads are always better than one and it allows one lawyer to focus on one set of legal circumstances and the other lawyer to focus on the other, which are equally important" (T. 146).

<sup>4</sup>Patrick's bill, introduced into evidence (T. 152), showed that he spent 31 hours on the Bruno case (T. 150).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Stella was retained by Mr. Bruno's parents for a sum of approximately \$25,000, with approximately \$15,000 payment given up front (T. 142). The Brunos would send Stella \$1,000 every month which came out of Mr. Bruno's father's disability pension (<u>Id</u>.). No contract was ever executed as "[t]hat was not my custom in practice in those days" (T. 143).

Stella's relationship with Mr. Bruno was "[g]ood"; Mr. Bruno was "always very cordial" (T. 170-71). The focus of his efforts from the beginning was on the guilt phase because "[m]y opinion is you cannot prepare a penalty phase until you have thoroughly investigated, to the best of your ability, the guilt phase" (T. 251).

Stella felt that Mr. Bruno's statement to the police was a significant piece of evidence for the State, as well as his son's statement (T. 170), and focused on guilt issues in preparing for trial (T. 185). Trial was initially set for October 17, 1986, but Stella sought a continuance because of a motion he had previously filed to have a competency evaluation conducted on Mr. Bruno (T. 179). Stella could not recall why he had concerns about Mr. Bruno's competency (T. 179), but the motion indicated that Mr. Bruno "appears to be deteriorating and having difficulty aiding and assisting" him in preparing for trial (T. 181). Stella requested the appointment of three experts but the judge selected Dr. Stillman (T. 181). The evaluation was to encompass only competency and insanity (T. 182-84).

Stella had difficulty remembering what information, if any, he had provided to Stillman at the time, but recalled that "there may have been an issue regarding a voluntary intoxication defense for his trial. I thought that to be the - if we lost the motion to suppress, I thought that to be the most legally meritorious defense" (T. 186). Over time, Stella became concerned whether Mr. Bruno "really gets it, that he's hitting on all cylinders" and conveyed his concerns to Stillman (T. 187). As to when he

"had discussions with Stillman regarding drug use versus other particular problems of a psychological nature, I don't recall which was first and which was later" (T. 188). Stella also did not recall what information, if any, he had provided to Stillman, but it was his practice to speak with doctors before they go in to evaluate a client (T. 191). Stella would also have provided Stillman with police reports and other discovery, which he testified he did have at the time Stillman evaluated Mr. Bruno (T. 192). Stella eventually filed another motion for continuance of trial on November 26, 1986, because Stillman had still not evaluated Mr. Bruno (T. 191). At that point, trial was rescheduled for March 30, 1987.

In January, 1987, Stella was in a federal trial which lasted three weeks (T. 194). The case required a lot of preparation and was "certainly time consuming" (T. 195). When the federal case was being tried, Stella was in court all day and spent "very little" time working on Mr. Bruno's case (T. 197). At the time the federal case was being tried, Mr. Bruno's trial was set for March 30, 1987 (T. 197-98).

On March 20, 1987, a motion for continuance was filed under Adler's signature (T. 198), asserting that Stella's "hospitalization" would be approximately 21 days, and that Adler was coordinating his efforts along with Stella so as not to further delay Mr. Bruno's case (T. 200). The motion detailed that the hospitalization was for "diagnostic testing and evaluation" but in reality it was for alcoholism (T. 200). Stella explained that alcohol "had become a factor in my life"

and that his drinking was "[0]ut of hand," and in October of 1986, he began to attend Alcoholics Anonymous because "it began to effect my personal life and when I noticed that it began to effect my work habits as well, then I sought immediate counseling" (T. 201-02). He explained that his drinking had increased in the time leading up to October, 1986, and was "significantly worse" after he was retained to represent Mr. Bruno in August of 1986, and "I'm sure I was drinking" during the workweek between August and October of 1986 (T. 207). After he stopped drinking in October, 1986, he remained alcohol free until ten days prior to his seeking hospitalization on March 15, 1987, just two weeks before Mr. Bruno's trial was set to begin (T. 201).

At the time he agreed to represent Mr. Bruno, Stella was also abusing cocaine (T. 204). Although acknowledging that "[i]f I was drinking and it was the weekend and I was particularly intoxicated, I may have done a line of cocaine," his cocaine use was "nothing that I ever considered that I had a problem with" (T. 204). Stella could not state under oath that he never used cocaine during the week (<u>Id</u>.). At the time he took Mr. Bruno's case, he used cocaine until October of that year, then had a relapse for about ten days in late February and early March of 1987 (T. 205-06). On March 15, 1987, he entered the Coral Springs Care Unit, where he remained for 28 days (T. 208).

Stella did not recall when he talked with Adler about filing the motion for continuance in Mr. Bruno's case, but believed that the phraseology "diagnostic testing" was taken from Dr. Rose, his

doctor (T. 208). Stella believed that Dr. Rose had written a letter to Judge Coker but did not know "if Judge Coker made that part of the file or not" (T. 209).

At no time prior to October of 1986 did Stella alert Mr. Bruno to his cocaine and alcohol problems, or that he was "going out that Friday night and have a drink or do a line or anything like that" (T. 209). Stella made no attempt to contact Mr. Bruno while he was in rehab (T. 211).<sup>5</sup> After he was released from rehab, Stella testified that he gave Mr. Bruno the option of withdrawing from the case, and also spoke with Judge Coker about the matter because "I thought he was owed an explanation as Mr. Bruno was owed an explanation as to why his lawyer disappeared" (T. 211). Stella believed that the prosecutor, Jack Coyle, was present when he spoke with the judge (T. 211). Stella reaffirmed that he was testifying under a grant of immunity offered by Assistant State Attorney Susan Bailey (T. 213).

When he entered rehab, Stella did not know what the extent of his preparation was for Mr. Bruno's trial, which at the time was set for March 30, 1987, but did recall that "[w]e would have been in the process of preparing the capital motions for hearing," which is one of the "[1]ater things" you do to get ready for a capital trial (T. 214). As to the motion to suppress Mr. Bruno's oral statements, which he acknowledged was a "[v]ery significant" motion, Stella did not know why it was not filed until June,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Nor did he ever meet with the defense investigator (T. 926), and the investigator was not aware why Stella was hosptialized (T. 911).

1987, when trial was initially set for March (T. 214).

Trial commenced in August, 1987, and Stella was questioned about an incident he brought to Judge Coker's attention the first day of trial. The trial record reflects the following occurring on August 4, 1987, before Judge Coker:

MR. STELLA: Judge, I would like to explain to the Court what happened to me last night. It has nothing to do with this case but I'm glad that you're continuing so that I can have additional time to speak with my client which is what I was going to do yesterday.

I left and went home to find out that my house had been robbed.

THE COURT: They call that burglary, not robbery.

MR. STELLA: Thank you for the correction, Your Honor.

Aside from rolling up the carpets, they took everything I had.

THE COURT: Really?

MR. STELLA: Everything. I had some case in a wall safe and some bearer bonds and some gold coins, and they drilled the wall safe our of the wall, ransacked it.

The bearer bonds I had gotten from my grandmother. They were worth in excess of \$30,000. They drilled it out of the wall.

They took a painting that my father had given me for my 30th birthday, from an original Simbari.

They took my Rolex watch. They took everything.

Jack is on the verge of tears, I can tell.

So I was up with the police until about 3:00 in the morning.

THE COURT: Well, I'm sorry.

(R. 120-21).

Stella explained that he used some "dramatic flair" in recounting to Judge Coker what had happened (T. 217), and that he later found out that what he had assumed was stolen had in fact been in another portion of his parents' house (T. 218). Stella admitted that when he told Judge Coker that the wall safe had been drilled out of the wall, that was not true (T. 218), but as to why he told that to Coker, "I don't recall and I don't want to speculate" (T. 219). After refreshing his recollection from his deposition, Stella acknowledged that "I was very fond of Judge Coker and still am" and that "I told him some dramatic lies" (T. 227). As to why he had so much cash lying around, Stella responded:

A [] I was having some I.R.S. problems in those days. All the funds I made in my practice were all reported to the I.R.S. I had a tax lean [sic] at that time and I could never put any money in my bank because the I.R.S. would never -- their payment scheduled, any time I put any money in my bank account, they'd take it. So, until I got the lean [sic] cleared up, I kept all of my funds in cash.

Q How about the money that Mr. Bruno's parents were paying you; what did you do with those checks?

- A They were deposited.
- Q In your bank account?
- A Uh-huh.
- Q Was this during the same time period?
- A I believe so.
- Q So, did you have a bank account?

A Oh, yes. Bank accounts were normally such that we would deposit checks or cash and then we would write checks on it, almost immediately, so that money would be in the account for a minimal amount of time and then once the I.R.S. lean [sic] was cleared up, then we no longer had the necessity or reason to put cash or to keep cash anywhere other than the bank.

(T. 228-29).

Stella explained that an intoxication defense was the most viable in the case (T. 232-33). He also had a conversation with Mr. Bruno's son, who told him that he and his father were "loaded" and "high" (T. 235). He emphasized that while voluntary intoxication is always "a risky defense," it was "the number one defense in my play book, that I thought it was the most appropriate way to proceed" (T. 233). He later commented that "I thought that the voluntary intoxication would sway the jury, hopefully, to a murder two or manslaughter, would be the best route to go, the best route to go" (T. 237).

Rather than presenting an intoxication defense, however, Stella presented a defense that Jody Spalding committed the crime "and/or the State failed to prove their case beyond a reasonable doubt," a defense he "wasn't that crazy about" (T. 238). Furthermore, "one of the key elements to that defense was the element of surprise" which dissipated when the State, through Mr. Bruno's son, eventually got wind of the defense strategy (T. 239). The loss of the surprise factor "kind of shot that defense a little bit, at least injured it, or the viability of that presentation, anyway" (T. 239).

Stella was shown a police report from Detective Lavarello, which provided a statement from Paul Holland that he saw Jody Spalding going into the victim's apartment at the time the State alleged the homicide occurred (T. 240-41). He acknowledged that

he never elicited at trial the fact that an individual by the name of Jody Spalding was seen going into the victim's apartment on the night of the homicide and did not recall any reason why (T. 246). He admitted that the information in the report "would have been consistent with the defense" at trial, and "[i]f I were to give you a number of reasons, it would be speculation" (T. 246). After the lower court questioned collateral counsel about whether any hearsay objection had been lodged at the time of trial about this information, Stella then "recalled" that which he had just previously not been able to and testified that "I perceived that the be a hearsay problem" (T. 249). But he repeated several times that he was simply speculating (T. 249-50).

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