IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 24 1999

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

MICHAEL GEORGE BRUNO, SR.,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 92,223

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO. 0857238
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD.
SUITE 300
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409
(561) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

perpetrator, but even if you are to believe this, that's not first degree murder. The individual, my client indicated that it was done in self-defense or during a fight, and **as** the judge will instruct you, that's not first degree murder." (TR IV 729-30).

Mr, Stella maintained that Bruno did not commit the murder, but he was stuck with Bruno's statement to the police, In that statement, Bruno indicated that the victim invited him and Mike Jr. into his apartment for a beer. Bruno was carrying a two-foot-long crow bar from working on his car. While inside, the victim started "getting loud" with Mike Jr. Bruno stepped in and he and the victim started fighting. In the midst of the fight, "the crowbar came out, and [Bruno] hit him with it" between one and five times. The victim kneed him in the groin, and Bruno fell back against the The victim then went to his room and brought out a qun. couch. Bruno told Mike Jr. to leave and he did. Bruno and the victim continued to fight, but Bruno knocked him down and thought he was unconscious. When Bruno started to walk away, the victim grabbed for the gun again, so Bruno "grabbed the gun from him and [he] shot him" in the head once or twice. (STR I 8-10).

Based on this statement that Mr. Stella unsuccessfully sought to suppress, he was faced with Bruno's admission that he was in the victim's apartment and shot the victim, though in self-defense.

Obviously, Bruno did not preclude Mr. Stella from presenting this

alternative defense. The fact that he did present it, however, does not render his decision not to present a voluntary intoxication unreasonable and ineffective.

Finally, Bruno claims that Mr. Stella's failure to present a voluntary intoxication defense prejudiced his case. Initial brief at 53-55. As the trial court found, however, Bruno's actions before, during, and after the murder clearly refute such a defense, Bruno borrowed the murder weapon (a .22 caliber revolver) from Christopher Tague several days before the murder (TR II 346-47) and was seen with it on the day of the murder (TR III 450). Later that night, Bruno borrowed a car from Steve Mazzella (TR III 469-71). Bruno's son, who was with Bruno in the victim's apartment, testified that, when the victim went to adjust his stereo, Bruno hit the victim several times with a crowbar. Bruno then told Mike Jr. to get a gun from the cabinet in the bathroom where Bruno had previously secreted it. With the gun in hand, Bruno put a pillow over the victim's face and shot the victim twice in the head. (TR III 423-32).

When Bruno returned home during the early morning hours, he had blood stains on his shoes (TR III 486). Mike Jr, was scared and told Jody Spalding, "You don't ever want to see what I saw tonight." (TR III 391). About ten minutes later, Bruno told Jody Spalding that he got into a fight and the guy was dead (TR III

391). Later that morning, electronic equipment belonging to the victim showed up at the Spalding's house. Archie Maheu found Bruno asleep on the couch with the gun under his pillow. When he asked Bruno where the equipment came from, Bruno told him that he killed someone and ransacked their place. Bruno stated that he sent Mike Jr. in as an entre into the victim's apartment. When the victim emptied an ashtray, Bruno hit him with a crowbar, then shot him through a pillow with a gun. (TR III 566-68). Bruno also told Jody that he got the equipment from the "dead guy's" apartment (TR II 392-93), and he told Sharon Spalding that the owner of the equipment was dead. (TR III 452). Later that morning, Bruno asked Jody to drive him to several canals where Bruno threw parts of the gun and the crowbar into the canals. (TR II 393-96). Two days later, Bruno tried unsuccessfully to get back into the victim's apartment to remove fingerprints. (TR II 354-60, 397-99). Several days after that, Bruno called Jody Spalding and told him to throw a pair of sneakers away because they had blood on them. (TR III 402-04) , Finally, while awaiting trial, Bruno asked Steve Mazzella to lie for him, and Bruno admitted that he "did do it." (TR III 472-73). Bruno also told Mike Jr. to blame the murder on Jody. He asked Mike Jr. to say that he (Bruno) was bowling or at the movies with a girl at the time of the murder. In a roundabout way, Bruno

٠,

wanted Mike Jr. to say that he (Mike Jr.) and Jody committed the murder. (TR III 433-34).

Based on Bruno's actions prior to, during, and following the murder, there is no reasonable probability that the verdict would have been different had Mr. Stella presented a voluntary intoxication defense, Kokal v. Dugger, 718 So.2d 138, 141 n.12 (Fla. 1998); Rivera v. State, 717 So.2d 477, 485 (Fla. 1998); Hardwick v. Dugger, 648 So.2d 100, 104 (Fla. 1994); Remeta v. Dugger, 622 So.2d 452, 455 (Fla. 1993); Koon v. Dugger, 619 So.2d 246, 249 (Fla. 1993). Therefore, this Court should affirm the trial court's order denying this claim.

Claim IV(H): Ineffective Assistance of Counsel--Stella failed to move to suppress Bruno's initial statement to the police

In his 3.850 motion, Bruno claimed that trial counsel failed to move to suppress his initial statements to the police, which were made without Miranda warnings. Although Bruno conceded that they were exculsatory in nature, he complained that the State used them to show inconsistencies in Bruno's later statements, and to show guilty knowledge. (SPCR IV 692-95). In response, the State argued that Mr. Stella made a reasonable tactical decision not to challenge Bruno's initial statements to the police. At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Stella testified that he remembered reading Bruno's statements in Detective Edgerton's report,

researching the issue, and deciding that those statements were not subject to Miranda because they were not made in a custodial setting, (PCR XI 275-78). Alternatively, the State argued that, even assuming counsel should have moved to suppress these statements, and that they would have been suppressed, Bruno failed to show that he was prejudiced by counsel's omission, As it had detailed earlier in its response, the evidence against Bruno, which included Bruno's later inculpatory statements, was overwhelming. Thus, there was no reasonable probability that the verdict would have been different had Mr. Stella successfully challenged the admission of Bruno's initial exculpatory statements to the police. (PCR I 134-35).

In its written order denying relief, the trial court found the claim procedurally barred and, alternatively, without merit:

Mr. Bruno was interrogated by the police on August 12, 1996 [sic], and his statement was introduced at trial through the testimony of Detectives Hanstein and Edgerton. initial statement the Defendant denied any knowledge as to the whereabouts of the Victim, and denied killing him. This matter is procedurally barred, because it was raised, or could have been raised on appeal. Defendant is now seeking to raise this issue under the guise of ineffectiveness of counsel. Even if this issue was [sic] not procedurally barred, the evidence against Mr. Bruno was overwhelming. Thus there is no reasonable probability that the verdict would have been different, had Bruno's initial exculpatory statements [not] been received in evidence.

see: Pericola v. State, 499 So.2d 864 (Fla. First D.C.A. 19861

(PCR I 184-85).

The trial court's ruling was proper, In Harvev v. Dugger, 656 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1995), the defendant had challenged the admission of his confession in the trial court, and the denial of same on direct appeal. In his postconviction motion (claim l(a)), Harvey claimed that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the admission of his statements on other grounds. Id. at 1254 n.1. The trial court found, and this Court agreed, that these allegations were procedurally barred, except for an allegation based on newly discovered evidence. Id. at 1256.

Like Harvey, Bruno challenged the admission of his inculpatory statements in the trial court, and the denial of same on appeal.

Bruno v. State, 574 So.2d 76, 79 (Fla. 1991). Bruno's postconviction allegations, like most of Harvey's, were based on facts in the record, not on newly discovered evidence. Bruno simply used an ineffectiveness claim to relitigate his motion to suppress and to get a second bite at the apple. See Harvey, 656 So.2d at 1256 ("It is also not appropriate to use a different argument to relitigate the same issue. Hence, claim 1(a) is procedurally barred, ..." (citation omitted)). Thus, the trial court properly found Bruno's claim procedurally barred.

Alternatively, the trial court also properly found the claim to be without merit. Bruno failed to show that Mr. Stella's tactical decision not to challenge them was unreasonable. Mr. Stella specifically testified that he investigated the circumstances surrounding, and the propriety of, Bruno's initial statements to the police and determined that they were not obtained in violation of Miranda because they were not made in a custodial setting. (PCR XI 275-78). According to Detective Edgerton's report, which Bruno used to refresh Mr. Stella's recollection on this matter, Detectives Edgerton and Hanstein went to Bruno's parents" home to talk to Bruno or Mike Jr. According to the report,

Mr. Michael Bruno answered the door and agreed to voluntarily respond to the North Lauderdale Public Safety Dept. and answer our guestions pertaining to this homicide investigation. Mr. Bruno was given a ride by myself and Det. Hanstein to the North Lauderdale Public Safety Dept. Mr. Bruno was advised that we were investigating a homicide which occurred at the Candlewood Square apartment complex, and that we were particularly concerned with his activity from Friday, the 8th of August, 1986 through Monday, the 11th of August, 1986, Mr. Michael George Bruno. Sr.... stated that he had no problem answerins our questions as he was not quilty of any crime.

(Court exhibit 2 at 1-2) (emphasis added). The report then detailed the substance of Bruno's statement. Id. at 2-3. Thereafter, the detective wrote,

Mr. Bruno then was taken by this investigator and Det. Hanstein back to his parent's [sic] home, and was told that as this micide investigation had not determined a prime subject at this time, that he was suspected of being involved, and therefore was told not to leave town until either myself or Det. Hanstein had notified him that the homicide had been solved.

<u>Id.</u> at 3.

Not only did Bruno voluntarily go to the police station, he agreed to talk to them. He was also not under arrest and was returned to his home after the interview. Finally, while the detectives indicated that he was a suspect, they also indicated that they did not have a "prime subject" at that time. The police did not, as Bruno contended, have a precalculated plan to manipulate Bruno into confessing to this crime. Thus, Mr. Stella had no legal basis to challenge Bruno's initial exculpatory statements. Cf. Roman v. State, 475 So.2d 1228, 1231-32 (Fla. 1985) ("Appellant's situation was that he was being questioned in an investigation room at the sheriff's department, having voluntarily complied with a deputy's request to go there.") .4

⁴ Bruno's reliance on <u>Mosley v. State</u>, 503 So.2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), and <u>Drake v. State</u>, 441 So.2d 1079, 1081 (Fla. 1984), is misplaced. In <u>Moslev</u> although the defendant appeared at the police station voluntarily: was told he was not under arrest, and was not given <u>Miranda</u> warnings, the police induced his <u>inculpatorv</u> statements with promises of leniency if he would become a confidential informant. <u>No</u> inducements were made in Bruno's case. Similarly, in <u>Drake</u>, "[t] he defendant . . . was aware that

Even if counsel had a legal basis to challenge Bruno's initial exculpatory statements and failed to assert it, Bruno failed to prove that counsel's failure to do so prejudiced his case. trial court found, the evidence against Bruno was overwhelming, As this Court stated in its direct appeal opinion, "[d]irect evidence of how the crime occurred was furnished by Bruno's fifteen-year-old son, Michael, Jr., and by Bruno himself in the form of a taped confession." Bruno, 574 So.2d at 78. Bruno also made inculpatory statements to several lay witnesses, was seen with the murder weapon shortly after the murder, and was in possession of the victim's stereo equipment. <u>Id.</u> at 78-79. In assessing the harm of the improper admission of two witnesses' statements, this Court found their admission harmless "in view of the overwhelming evidence of guilt." <u>Id.</u> at 80. Thus, even if Mr. Stella could have successfully excluded Bruno's initial exculpatory statements, there is no reasonable probability that the outcome of his guilt phase would have been different. Cf. Henyard V. State, 689 So.2d 239, 248 (Fla. 1996) (finding admission of defendant's statements harmless in light of overwhelming evidence of guilt); LeCroy v.

he had furnished the police with probable cause for his arrest. This knowledge, coupled with the fact that his request to discontinue further interrogation without counsel went unheeded, afforded a reasonable basis for Drake to believe he was not free to leave. " 475 So.2d at 1231. Not only was Bruno free to leave, the police gave him a ride back to his parents' home; he was not arrested for several more days.

Dugger, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S13, 14 (Fla. 1998) (affirming summary denial of similar ineffectiveness claim where evidence of guilt was overwhelming); Pericola v. State, 499 So.2d 864 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) ("While it is true that, when the error affects the constitutional rights of the appellant, the reviewing court may not find it harmless if there is a reasonable possibility that the error may have contributed to the accused's conviction or if the error may not be found harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, even such constitutional error may be treated as harmless where the evidence of guilt is overwhelming."). As a result, the trial court properly denied this allegation.

Claim IV(G): Ineffective Assistance of Counsel--Stella failed to challenge Bruno's inability to waive his rights before talking to the police because of Bruno's intoxication

In his 3.850 motion, Bruno admitted that trial counsel was aware that he (Bruno) "had a severe substance abuse problem," yet claimed that trial counsel failed to discover that Bruno was under the influence of LSD at the time of the crime and was similarly "out of touch with reality" when he made statements to the police. As a result, according to Bruno, defense counsel unreasonably

failed to challenge his competency to waive his <u>Miranda rights.</u>⁵ (SPCR IV 687-92).

Following the evidentiary hearing, the trial court found this claim procedurally barred, believing that Bruno was using an ineffectiveness claim to relitigate the propriety of his confession on other grounds:

The Defendant alleges that he was manipulated by the police into confessing his guilt, by their discussing the danger of his son being raped in jail. This matter was raised on appeal, or could have been raised on appeal, and it cannot be re-litigated at the present time under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel. Thus the issue was procedurally barred.

(PCR I 184).

This ruling was proper. Again, in <u>Harvev v. Dugger</u>, 656 So.2d 1253, 1258 n.1 (Fla. 1995), the defendant challenged on direct appeal the admission of his confession. In his postconviction motion (claim 1(a)), however, Harvey claimed that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to make several arguments in support of his motion to suppress Harvey's confession. One of the allegations was "that trial counsel failed to obtain the services of a psychiatrist

⁵ Bruno **also** claimed that trial counsel similarly failed to challenge his competency to testify at the trial (SPCR IV 691-92), but Bruno does not challenge in this appeal the denial of that allegation, **initial brief** at 59-62. Therefore, he has waived it for review.

who would have testified that Harvey suffered from organic brain damage and was subject to becoming quickly and easily confused in stressful situations." Id. Ultimately, this Court affirmed the denial of this claim on the ground that it was procedurally barred:

"It is also not appropriate to use a different argument to relitigate the same issue. Hence, claim 1(a) is procedurally barred, . . . because the issue of the suppression of Harvey's confession was raised on direct appeal and rejected by this Court."

Id. at 1256 (citation omitted)). Thus, the trial court properly found Bruno's claim procedurally barred.

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